S 244157

**IN THE  
SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA**

---

FILMON.COM, INC.,  
*Petitioner,*

v.

DOUBLEVERIFY, INC.,  
*Respondent.*

---

SUPREME COURT  
**FILED**

JAN 16 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

---

Deputy

AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND  
APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION THREE  
Case No. B264074

---

**OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

---

BAKER MARQUART LLP  
Ryan G. Baker (Bar No. 214036)  
Scott M. Malzahn (Bar No. 229204)  
Blake D. McCay (Bar No. 272315)  
2029 Century Park East, Suite 1600  
Los Angeles, CA 90067  
Telephone: (424) 652-7800  
Facsimile: (424) 652-7850

Attorneys for Petitioner  
**FilmOn.com, Inc.**

##

**INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

In the opinion below, the Second District Court of Appeal dramatically expanded the scope of subdivision (4) of California Code of Civil Procedure Section 425.16(e)(4) (the “catch-all provision”).<sup>1</sup> Based on a highly attenuated chain of causal reasoning about potential downstream

---

<sup>1</sup> California’s anti-SLAPP statute is codified in Code of Civil Procedure section 425.16 *et seq.* (hereinafter, the “anti-SLAPP statute”).

consequences of the allegedly protected activity, the lower court found that the sale of a purely private online advertising report constitutes protected speech in furtherance of a matter of public interest or concern. The court's departure from existing anti-SLAPP jurisprudence creates further confusion and uncertainty in the already nebulous area of defining an issue of public interest or concern under the catch-all provision of the anti-SLAPP statute. It also creates an enormous legal barrier to holding companies accountable for their false and misleading statements, even when that speech takes place entirely in secret and serves only private commercial interests. Such is not the purpose of the anti-SLAPP statute. This Court should reverse.

Plaintiff FilmOn.com, Inc. ("FilmOn") filed this action after it discovered that defendant DoubleVerify, Inc. ("DoubleVerify") had provided at least one of FilmOn's former clients with a confidential report that falsely accused FilmOn of displaying "adult content" and unauthorized copyrighted work on its websites. Those false and misleading statements caused FilmOn to lose advertising business, which led to this lawsuit for trade libel and other business torts. Though the libelous speech appeared in confidential business reports that were not shared with anyone except the specific paying DoubleVerify customer, DoubleVerify filed a special motion to strike. It argued that the contents of its reports constituted "protected activity" under the catch-all provision codified in subdivision (e)(4) of Code of Civil Procedure section 425.16.

The trial and appellate courts both agreed with DoubleVerify, finding that FilmOn's complaint arises out of protected activity. Under the guise of "broadly" interpreting California's anti-SLAPP statute, the courts below used the statute as a sledgehammer to dismiss a purely private trade libel dispute between two commercial businesses at its inception. In its opinion, the court of appeal erroneously dismissed the commercial nature of DoubleVerify's speech as legally irrelevant, holding, *inter alia*, the anti-



SLAPP statute “applies to private communications” and “[w]hether a statement concerns an issue of public interest depends on the content of the statement, not the statement’s speaker or audience.” (Typed Opn. 19-20.) In so doing, it gave DoubleVerify (and similar businesses) license to confidentially whisper absolutely anything about anyone for profit with impunity. The decision turns the intended purpose of the anti-SLAPP statute on its head and, unless reversed, will further confuse an already muddled area of law.

This Court should reverse and use this opportunity to clarify the meaning of the express statutory limitations on the scope of the catch-all provision in the anti-SLAPP statute. While this Court has yet to provide definitive guidance, other appellate courts have wisely held that that commercial speech “is entitled to less protection than other safeguarded forms of expression” under the anti-SLAPP statute. (*See, e.g., All One God Faith, Inc. v. Organic & Sustainable Indus. Standards, Inc. (OASIS)* (2010) 183 Cal. App. 4th 1186, 1208.) This Court should resolve the jurisprudential confusion in the case law as exemplified by the decision below, and provide a conceptual framework for understanding the public interest requirement in the anti-SLAPP statute that distinguishes between cases involving commercial versus non-commercial speech. The decision below blurs that critical distinction.

Instead of relying on factually similar commercial speech cases, the appellate court below erroneously relied on distinguishable cases that involved statements by individuals about the identities and locations of specific people – alleged child molesters, registered sex offenders and others – who pose a risk of harm to children. Clearly, those cases implicate kinds of non-commercial speech that are of profound interest to local communities and further a public dialogue. “It would be helpful for the Supreme Court to issue a definitive statement of the application of section

425.16 to commercial speech.” Jerome I. Braun, *California’s Anti-SLAPP Remedy After Eleven Years* (2003) 34 McGeorge L. Rev. 731, 754-55.

With respect to the Issue Presented, this Court should hold that the identity of the speaker, the identity of the audience, and the intended purpose of the speech are all important considerations in determining whether speech is protected by the anti-SLAPP statute. There are good “reasons for the distinction between the protections given to commercial and noncommercial speech,” *Nagel v. Twin Laboratories, Inc.* (2003) 109 Cal. App. 4th 39, 46-47, and “categorizing a particular statement as commercial or noncommercial speech requires consideration of three elements: the speaker, the intended audience, and the content of the message.” (*Rezec v. Sony Pictures Entertainment, Inc.* (2004) 116 Cal. App. 4th 135, 140.) Based on these common-sense considerations, DoubleVerify simply cannot uphold its burden of showing that the libelous speech in its confidential business reports “arises from” any act in “furtherance of” the constitutional right of petition or the constitutional right of free speech “in connection with a public issue or a public interest[.]” (*See* Code Civ. Proc. § 425.16(e)(4).)

This Court should reverse for several reasons. First, DoubleVerify cannot demonstrate its purely confidential reports were intended to contribute to any public dialogue or otherwise “further” the exercise of free speech rights. Ordinary commercial speech about a particular business or product is entitled to less protection than other safeguarded forms of expression under the anti-SLAPP statute (*see, e.g., OASIS*, 183 Cal. App. 4th at 1208; *Nagel*, 109 Cal. App. 4th at 46; *Rezec*, 116 Cal. App. 4th at 140–41), especially where (as here) that speech is kept entirely confidential and not made public to any portion of the public.

Second, DoubleVerify’s reports were not made in connection with an issue of “public interest.” It is well established that a private business

dispute does not turn into a matter of public interest merely because it relates in some abstract way to a larger topic of interest to the public. (See, e.g., *Rivero v. American Federation of State, County and Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO* (2003) 105 Cal. App. 4th 913, 925 (affirming denial of anti-SLAPP motion in a libel case brought by an employee against a union, reasoning that union's argument that the allegedly libelous statements made about the specific employee related to a "generalized" concern about employment practices within the University of California system "sweeps to broadly" and the statements did not in fact further any public interest); *Consumer Justice Center v. Trimedica International, Inc.* (2003) 107 Cal. App. 4th 595.) The mere fact that copyright infringement and the "presence of adult content on the Internet generally" may be of widespread concern to the public (Typed Opn. 15) does not convert DoubleVerify's purely private communications to clients about FilmOn's content into protected activity.

Third, FilmOn's underlying claims "arise from" wrongful conduct (*i.e.*, DoubleVerify's classification of FilmOn websites with "Adult Content" and "Copyright Infringement" tags), not protected speech. The mere fact that speech may be evidence in a case does not insulate otherwise tortious conduct from liability. Indeed, in the closest case to this one, the First District found a trade association's act of labeling particular products as "organic" did not arise out of or further free speech rights in connection with an issue of public interest. (See *OASIS*, 183 Cal. App. 4th at 1205-10.)

Although there is no dispute that the anti-SLAPP statute is to be considered "broadly," the statute has limitations. This case involves communications outside those limitations. The anti-SLAPP statute was enacted to prevent large and powerful interests from quashing speech by burying those who dared exercise their rights under an avalanche of legal fees. But under the decision below, the statute would allow large and

powerful interests to squash legitimate commercial suits in their infancy under the guise of free speech. Unfortunately, “[t]he cure has become the disease,” and anti-SLAPP motions are “just the latest form of abusive litigation.” (*Navalier v. Sletten* (2002) 29 Cal. 4th 82, 96 (J. Brown, dissenting); *see also Moore v. Shaw* (2004) 116 Cal. App. 4th 182, 200 n. 11 (finding anti-SLAPP motion to be frivolous and noting the “increasing frequency” of such motions and the burden imposed on opposing parties and the courts).) This Court should reverse.

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

A court’s ruling on an anti-SLAPP motion to strike is reviewed de novo as to both prongs. (*See, e.g., Soukup v. Law Offices of Herbert Hafif* (2006) 39 Cal. 4th 260, 269 fn. 3; *Flatley*, 39 Cal. 4th at 325.)

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Factual Background.

##### 1. DoubleVerify’s Business.

DoubleVerify, a for-profit corporation, offers online tracking, verification and “brand safety” services to Internet advertisers. (AA 41, 63.) Clients that place pop-up and banner advertisements online hire DoubleVerify to assist them with their advertising strategy, with the objective of maximizing the value of the dollars spent on advertising over the Internet and protecting the client’s brand. (RB 8-9.) Among other things, DoubleVerify assists clients in targeting their online advertisements to the desired target demographic, provides information to clients about potential advertising platforms, and monitors existing advertisements to ensure that those advertisements appear on-line and are visible as agreed, and provides information to clients about potential advertising platforms. (*Id.*) DoubleVerify provides these commercial services to some of the biggest companies in the world, including many Fortune 500 companies. (RB 9.) Thus, for a company like FilmOn that depends heavily on

advertising revenue (Typed Opn. 3), the information DoubleVerify supplies its clients about FilmOn's advertising platforms has the potential to make or break FilmOn's business.

As DoubleVerify admits, a typical client provides DoubleVerify its advertising goals, as well as any desired technical benchmarks (such as a goal to obtain a certain number of page views, to focus on a particular target demographic, or to foster desirable associations and avoid undesirable associations). (AA 63-65; RT 18:16-17.) For instance, a company like Red Bull may request that DoubleVerify assist it with selecting advertising platforms consistent with an "edgy adult oriented" demographic, while a company like Disney may ask DoubleVerify to help make sure its advertisements appear on more family-friendly websites. (RB 9 fn.1.)

DoubleVerify generates website reports that it refers to as "Impression Quality Reports" (hereinafter, "IQR Reports"), which are tailored to the needs of the individual client. These customized reports purport to provide accurate and reliable information about potential advertising platforms based on topics relevant to the client's advertising strategy. Its IQR Reports are designed to provide information about such topics as (1) the presence of "inappropriate content," (2) "geo-targeting" of advertisements, (3) "competitive separation," (4) "ad placement," (5) "fraud detection," and (6) "ad viewability." (Typed Opn. 3; AA 65, 138, 141 RT 18:19-28; 21:24-25.)

To create an IQR Report, DoubleVerify employs a "categorization algorithm [that] analyzes [a potential advertising] site from both a contextual and technical angle." (AA 66.) DoubleVerify then applies a "measurement code" to advertisements to track their appearance and location on the Internet. (AA 65.) DoubleVerify classifies websites based on these automated processes, and also relies heavily on manual Internet

searches of publicly available information by live people. (AA 65-71.) Based on the information that is collected, DoubleVerify generates IQR Reports that are designed to provide data in two columns: (1) one column that purports to show technical data concerning websites, ad placement and viewability; and (2) a second column containing tags designed to aid a given client in determining whether particular websites are consistent with the client's brand. IQR Reports do not contain any detailed analysis, but instead purport to contain raw data identifying particular websites, the number of impressions associated with those websites, and certain "tags" or classifications along with a standardized glossary that provides working definitions for the tags. (Typed Opn. 3.)

DoubleVerify's contracts expressly require clients maintain the confidentiality of IQR Reports. That is for a good reason. DoubleVerify's business model depends on the public not knowing what information it reports to an individual client. DoubleVerify sells the confidential IQR Reports to clients, which expect to obtain a competitive advantage over their competitors. If those IQR Reports were publicly available, clients would not need DoubleVerify's services or products. (Typed Opn. 17; RT 26:21-28.)

## **2. DoubleVerify's Confidential Reports About FilmOn Websites.**

FilmOn provides web-based entertainment, including hundreds of television channels, premium movie channels, pay-per-view channels and over 45,000 video-on-demand titles. FilmOn distributes programming on various website domains, including [filmon.com](http://filmon.com), [demand.filmon.com](http://demand.filmon.com), [lenovo.filmon.com](http://lenovo.filmon.com), [omniverse.filmon.com](http://omniverse.filmon.com), [staging.filmon.com](http://staging.filmon.com), [ftth.filmon.com](http://ftth.filmon.com), [us.filmon.com](http://us.filmon.com) and [samsung.filmon.com](http://samsung.filmon.com) (collectively, the "FilmOn Websites"). (Typed Opn. 3.)

Prior to the filing of this action, FilmOn noticed an initially unexplained uptick in the number of clients cancelling advertising agreements with FilmOn. Subsequently, in late 2013, FilmOn learned from one of its former clients that DoubleVerify had provided an IQR Report containing false and disparaging classifications about one or more of FilmOn’s websites. (AA 138-139, 149.) Those reports falsely classified the FilmOn Websites with the tags “Copyright Infringement: File Sharing” and “Adult Content.” (AA 149.) According to its standardized glossary, DoubleVerify defines websites included in the “Copyright Infringement: File Sharing” category as “sites, presently or historically, associated with access to or distribution of copyrighted material without appropriate controls, licensing or permission; including but not limited to, sites electronically streaming or allowing user file sharing of such material.” (AA 67.) DoubleVerify defines “Adult Content” as “Mature topics which are inappropriate viewing for children including explicit language, content, sounds and themes.” (AA 144.) Other than these definitions and the tags, DoubleVerify’s IQR Report about FilmOn did not contain any other information or analysis. (RT 18:19-28; 20:19-26.)

Although IQR Reports are confidential, one of FilmOn’s former clients provided FilmOn with an excerpt from one such report about the FilmOn Websites. (AA 138-139, RT 21:24-28.) That excerpt displayed the following information:

<b>Domain/Sub-domain</b>	<b>Total IMP</b>	<b>Categories</b>
filmon.com	23,768	Copyright Infringement: File Sharing
demand.filmon.com	306	Copyright Infringement: File Sharing

lenovo.filmon.com	113	Copyright Infringement: File Sharing
omniverse.filmon.com	59	Copyright Infringement: File Sharing
staging.filmon.com	11	Copyright Infringement: File Sharing
ftth.filmon.com	5	Copyright Infringement: File Sharing
us.filmon.com	4	Copyright Infringement: File Sharing
samsung.filmon.com	4	Copyright Infringement: File Sharing

(AA 138-139, RT 18:19-28, 20:19-26, 21:24-28.) This IQR Report excerpt is the alleged speech or petitioning activity at issue in this case. (AA 42-43.) DoubleVerify’s counsel confirmed that this excerpt, obtained by FilmOn, “[is] supposed to be confidential to the client.” (RT at 21:24-25.)

On December 12, 2013, FilmOn sent a cease and desist letter to DoubleVerify in which it demanded that DoubleVerify remove its harmful tags and issue a correction. (AA 138-139.) Later, DoubleVerify disclosed it had included FilmOn in the “Adult Content” category, as well. (AA 64, 72.) In communications between the parties’ counsel, DoubleVerify initially refused to confirm or deny that the “Adult Content” tag was tantamount to a claim that the FilmOn Websites contained pornography, which they do not. DoubleVerify later admitted that the “Adult Content” tag was something more akin to an “R” rating for a movie or a “TV-MA” (mature audiences) rating for a television show. (AA 7, 72; RB 14.) To date, however, DoubleVerify has never taken action to clarify to advertisers that FilmOn’s content is not pornographic. Additionally, DoubleVerify has



refused to take any action to limit the application of its “Adult Content” tag solely to the channels on FilmOn’s family of networks that arguably contain anything akin to “adult” content.

After supposedly conducting an investigation into the FilmOn “Copyright Infringement: Streaming or File Sharing” and “Adult Content” classifications, DoubleVerify elected to maintain those classifications. FilmOn has since been informed of additional reports of companies refusing to do business with it on account of DoubleVerify. (AA 186-187.) FilmOn, through letters, phone calls and meetings, attempted to provide DoubleVerify with information sufficient to demonstrate that DoubleVerify’s designations were inaccurate. Those efforts failed. FilmOn sued DoubleVerify on October 27, 2014. (AA 242.)

**B. Trial Court Proceedings.**

On November 24, 2014, FilmOn filed an amended Complaint against DoubleVerify and AOL, Inc.<sup>2</sup> (AA 1-31.) In sum and substance, the amended complaint alleged that DoubleVerify falsely classified FilmOn Websites with the tags “Copyright Infringement” and “Adult Content,” and then compounded that error by willfully refusing to adjust or explain its tags in light of evidence brought to its attention by FilmOn. FilmOn further alleges DoubleVerify makes false and misleading representations about the accuracy of its services. (*Id.*) It asserted causes of action against DoubleVerify for trade libel, tortious interference with contract, tortious interference with prospective economic advantage, unfair competition, false advertising, slander and libel. (AA 1-31.)

FilmOn alleges DoubleVerify classified the FilmOn Websites incorrectly and applied false and misleading tags in its IQR Reports. DoubleVerify’s sale of – and profit from – those disparaging classifications, and the corresponding harm to FilmOn, is the basis of this

---

<sup>2</sup> Pursuant to a settlement, AOL was dismissed on April 9, 2015.

action. FilmOn alleged DoubleVerify had “falsely classif[ied] the FilmOn Websites under the categories of ‘Copyright Infringement-File Sharing’ and ‘Adult Content.’”<sup>3</sup> (Typed Opn. 4.)

On January 26, 2015, DoubleVerify filed an anti-SLAPP special motion to strike. (AA 32-54.) DoubleVerify argued its confidential reports provide information relating to matters of public interest and fall within the catch-all provision in the anti-SLAPP statute (AA48), which protects “conduct in furtherance of the exercise of the constitutional right of petition or the constitutional right of free speech in connection with a public issue or an issue of public interest.” (Code Civ. Proc. § 425.16(e)(4).)

DoubleVerify’s motion also relied heavily on the argument that because FilmOn – or more particularly, the founder of FilmOn – was in the public eye, this dispute was one of public importance. (AA 41-42.) To support this argument, DoubleVerify submitted a 747-page appendix, consisting of general news articles about the topics of copyright infringement and adult content on the Internet, three news articles in *Fortune*, *Business Insider* and *The Hollywood Reporter* about lawsuits filed against FilmOn for copyright infringement, legal filings from that copyright

---

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