Case No. S244157

SUPREME COURT FILED

MAR 28 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

_

FILMON.COM,

IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

Plaintiff and Petitioner,

VS.

DOUBLEVERIFY, INC.

Defendant and Respondent

After Decision By the Court of Appeal, Second Appellate District, Division Three Case No. B264074

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

LINCOLN D. BANDLOW (BAR NO. 170449)
LBANDLOW@FOXROTHSCHILD.COM
ROM BAR-NISSIM (BAR NO. 293356)
RBAR-NISSIM@FOXROTHSCHILD.COM
Fox Rothschild LLP
10250 Constellation Blvd., Suite 900
Los Angeles, CA 90067

Telephone: 310.598.4150 Facsimile: 310.556.9828

Attorneys for Respondent DoubleVerify, Inc.

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

FILMON.COM,

I. STATEMENT OF CASE

FilmOn's position in this appeal, that the speech at issue is commercial speech unprotected by California Code of Civil Procedure ("C.C.P.") Section 425.16, fails on the law and the facts. First, there is a specific statutory "commercial speech" exemption to anti-SLAPP protection (*i.e.*, Section 425.17(c)) and FilmOn never asserted it in this case. Thus, any argument that the speech is "commercial speech" has been waived.

Second, it is obvious why FilmOn did not so contend:

DoubleVerify's speech cannot be deemed "commercial speech" by any stretch of the imagination. Rather, DoubleVerify, not unlike traditional forms of media such as newspapers and other news services, and much like such organizations as Consumer Reports and the Better Business Bureau, conducts extensive investigation and disseminates detailed reports about the content of millions of companies and websites. This is quintessential fully-protected speech that falls squarely under the well-established guidelines for speech that falls under Section 425.16.

FilmOn, however, seeks to muddy the otherwise clear waters of anti-SLAPP law by asking this Court to consider the "commercial nature of the speech, including the identity of the speaker, the identity of the audience and the intended purpose of the speech" in determining whether speech involves protected activity under Section 425.16 (sometimes referred to as the "Issue Presented"). In so doing, FilmOn omits any discussion regarding the commercial speech exemption codified in Section 425.17(c).

This omission is deliberate. FilmOn cannot feign ignorance of Section 425.17(c) because FilmOn cites that section's legislative history at

the end of its brief under the guise that this legislative history somehow concerns Section 425.16. FilmOn fails to discuss Section 425.17(c) because it is fatal to FilmOn's argument. The text and legislative history of Section 425.17(c) demonstrate that the Legislature enacted Section 425.17(c) to define all of the commercial speech that is exempt from Section 425.16(e).

In contrast, Section 425.16(e) focuses only on the content and/or context of the speech and this Court has repeatedly reiterated that protected activity is defined *solely* by that section. *See City of Montebello v. Vasquez* ("*Montebello*") (2016) 1 Cal.5th 409, 422. As this Court emphasized, it is improper to impose additional requirements to prove protected activity under Section 425.16.

Additionally, this Court in Simpson Strong-Tie Co. Inc. v. Gore ("Simpson") (2010) 49 Cal.4th 12, 22 explained that Section 425.17(c) is an exemption to Section 425.16 and, therefore, must be construed narrowly. In contrast, the Legislature amended Section 425.16 to explicitly state that the section should be construed broadly.

FilmOn's interpretation of Sections 425.16 and 425.17(c) would invert this rule of construction. FilmOn's definition of unprotected commercial speech is more expansive than the definition of exempt commercial speech in Section 425.17(c). FilmOn's definition of unprotected commercial speech under 425.16 would encompass any speech or conduct by a business to its customers made in the course of delivering its goods and services. This Court, however, specifically refused to interpret Section 425.17(c) in this manner (*see Simpson*, 49 Cal.4th at 26-29) and FilmOn provides no explanation as to why Section 425.16 should be interpreted to exempt such speech when Section 425.17(c) does not.

Additionally, FilmOn's interpretation of Section 425.16 would invert the burden of proof requirement for Section 425.17(c). FilmOn argues that

this Court should begin with the presumption that DoubleVerify's reports are unprotected commercial speech. But this Court has held that, as an exemption, the burden of proof is on the plaintiff to prove that Section 425.17(c) applies. *See Simpson*, 49 Cal.4th at 26.

Nor is FilmOn satisfied confining its brief to the Issue Presented. Instead, FilmOn advocates that Section 425.16(e)(4) does not extend to so-called private communications. Even assuming this case involves "private speech" (which it does not), FilmOn ignores the case law stating that Section 425.16(e)(4) was enacted for the express purpose of covering private communications. Indeed, FilmOn's interpretation would render Section 425.16(e)(4) mere surplusage because to qualify as protected activity, the statement or conduct would have to occur in a public forum (i.e., conduct covered by Section 425.16(e)(3)).

FilmOn also argues that, even when the speech or conduct concerns a matter of widespread public interest under Section 425.16(e)(4), the speech or conduct must also "contribute to the public debate." No such requirement appears in the text of Section 425.16. Furthermore, the cases that cite this contention did not involve a matter of widespread public interest under Section 425.16(e)(4). Rather, those cases involved public forums, public figures, private disputes, homeowners' association disputes or never discussed how the speech or conduct contributed to the public debate at all. They are inapplicable here.

FilmOn also asks this Court to hold that "amorphous public interests" do not qualify for protection under Section 425.16(e)(4). But FilmOn cites this contention completely out of context and the cases only stand for the proposition that an "amorphous public interest" – **standing alone** – is insufficient. Where the speech, as here, has a "closeness" with the public interest asserted (*i.e.*, the "in connection" requirement), it is covered by Section 425.16.

Finally, FilmOn misapplies the "public interest" requirement.

FilmOn seeks to shift the focus of the public interest inquiry from the content of DoubleVerify's reports to the reports themselves. But there is no requirement that the public must be interested in the specific speaker's speech or conduct. Rather, the focus is on whether the specific speech or conduct concerns a matter of public interest.

Stripped bare, it is evident that FilmOn's lawsuit is an attempt to punish DoubleVerify for speaking on a matter of public interest (*i.e.*, adult content on the internet generally and FilmOn's association with copyright infringement specifically). FilmOn did not even appeal the Trial Court's holding that FilmOn had no probability of prevailing on its claims, effectively conceding that FilmOn's website contains adult content and is associated with copyright infringement. Thus, FilmOn's meritless lawsuit is simply an assault on DoubleVerify's right to speak on matters of public interest.

Therefore, DoubleVerify requests that this Court affirm the Court of Appeal's decision that affirmed the Trial Court's decision to grant DoubleVerify's Anti-SLAPP Motion.

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

A. DoubleVerify

Put simply, DoubleVerify is hired to appraise its customers of what information is being put out on the internet. Advertising agencies, marketers, publishers and other companies hire DoubleVerify to detect and prevent waste or misuse of advertising budgets and to help take proactive measures to maintain brand reputation. (1:AA:063). DoubleVerify accomplishes this through seven components: impression quality solutions, ad viewability, brand safety, fraud protection, ad prominence, impression

¹ The term "AA" shall refer to Appellant's Appendix.

delivery, and video impression quality. Id.

DoubleVerify monitors the websites that its clients advertise on, or may wish to advertise on, and then determines: (a) if each website has content that a client may consider inappropriate; (b) the regional location of the website's viewers; (c) whether competitor advertising appears on the website; (d) where the website actually places advertisements, and (e) how long the advertisement appears on the website.² (1:AA:064). Based on this information, DoubleVerify provides its 1,200-plus clients, many of which are Fortune 500 companies, with a report that allows the client to make informed choices about where to place its advertising and what websites with which to associate or to avoid. (1:AA:0063-065; RT:18:16-17).³ This process requires DoubleVerify to examine millions of websites and billions of ad impressions each month. (1:AA:063).

B. FilmOn

FilmOn is an Internet-based television provider owned by FilmOn.TV Networks Inc., which was founded in 2006 by controversial figure Alki David. FilmOn claims that advertising and product placement are its primary sources of revenue. (1:AA:003). As part of its service, FilmOn provides free television content from a variety of sources, including the major television networks, CBS, ABC, NBC, and Fox Television. (1:AA:071).

According to lawsuits filed around the country, however, it appears

² DoubleVerify does not "rate" or make value judgments about any websites, nor does it recommend or discourage the use of any websites. DoubleVerify simply provides information for clients to make decisions about which websites best suit their needs and interests. For example, Disney may take issue with running an advertisement on a website that contains "adult content" whereas Red Bull may have no such issue and, in fact, may find such a website desirable. (1:AA:065-066).

³ The term "RT" shall refer to the Reporter's Transcript.

"free television content" should be replaced with "stolen television content." FilmOn is notorious for its "long history of violating copyright owner's exclusive rights." (1:RA:0031-0032).⁴ Thus, it has been sued around the country by those television networks for copyright infringement.⁵ (1:AA:006; 1:AA:071; 2:RA 0096–3:RA:0326). Indeed, even after courts have found that FilmOn engages in copyright infringement, this has not stopped FilmOn and its founder from continuing to stream infringing content, resulting in FilmOn being held in contempt of court. (1:RA:0024-0030; 1:RA:0044-0045).⁶

⁴ The term "RA" shall refer to Respondent's Appendix.

⁵ See CBS Broad. Inc. v. Filmon.com, Inc. (S.D.N.Y. 2010) No. 10-7532; Fox Television Stations, Inc. v. FilmOn X, LLC (D.C.C. Sept. 5, 2013) No. 13-758 RMC, 2013 WL 4763414 appeal docketed, No. 13-7145 (D.C. Cir. September 17, 2013), Fox Television Station Inc. v. BarryDriller Content Sys., PLC (C.D. Cal. 2013) 915 F.Supp.2d 1138 appeal docked sub nom, Fox Television Stations, Inc. v. FilmOn X, LLC, No. 13-55156 (9th Cir. argued August 27, 2013) and No. 13-55157, NBCUniversal Media, LLC v. FilmOn X, LLC (C.D. Cal. 2012) No. 12-6950-GW appeal docketed, No. 13-55228 (9th Cir. February 8, 2013); see also Request for Judicial Notice ("RJN"), Ex. A-C.

In 2014, the U.S. Supreme Court held that Aereo, a company which provided identical services to that provided by FilmOn, was engaged in copyright infringement. *American Broad. Cos. v. Aereo, Inc.* (2014) 134 S.Ct. 2498. FilmOn then argued that its online streaming of content was comparable to a cable service provider, entitling FilmOn to the same compulsory licenses that such cable providers get to legally rebroadcast copyrighted works. The Second and Ninth Circuits rejected this argument and found that FilmOn continues to engage in copyright infringement. *CBS Broad. Inc. v. FilmOn.com, Inc.*, (2d Cir. 2016) 814 F.3d 91, 98-99; *Fox Television Stations, Inc. v. Aereokiller, LLC* (9th Cir. 2017) 851 F.3d 1002, 1015. Similar findings were made in Washington D.C. and Illinois. *Fox Television Stations, Inc. v. FilmOn X LLC* (D.D.C. Dec. 2, 2015) No. CV 13-758 (RMC), 2015 WL 7761052, at *16; *Filmon X, LLC v. Window to the World Commc'ns, Inc.* (N.D. Ill. Mar. 23, 2016) No. 13 C 8451, 2016 WL 1161276, at *13.

These lawsuits have been covered extensively by the press. (1:RA: 0008-0067; 1:AA:071). Moreover, FilmOn's CEO and billionaire owner, Mr. David, regularly injects himself in the public spotlight to discuss himself, his companies and the purported legality of FilmOn's services. (1:RA:0066-0095). Mr. David's antics have drawn massive attention to his company. (1:RA:0015-0019; 1:RA:0055-0057). Dubbed "one of Hollywood's biggest trouble makers" and a man who is "not the type to heed the advice of lawyers," (1:RA:0061-0065), Mr. David embraces his maverick label. After being called out for his copyright infringement by CBS, Mr. David set up a website called "cbsyousuck.com" and said "[i]t takes someone like me, who's a bit of an idiot, with money, to go and poke their finger in their eye." (1:RA:0066-0073). As set forth below, this present lawsuit was yet another of David's efforts to poke someone in the eye, this time jabbing DoubleVerify because it dared to point out the controversial nature of FilmOn's content.

C. <u>DoubleVerify's Investigation Of FilmOn And The</u> <u>Impression Quality Report</u>

Typically, a client comes to DoubleVerify and gives DoubleVerify information about the client's media plan (*i.e.*, what websites that company has chosen to associate with and on which it has run advertising). (1:AA:065). In accordance with that plan, DoubleVerify evaluates billions of advertising campaign impressions, prepares a report regarding the websites where those advertisements ran, and then makes the reports available to DoubleVerify's clients. (1:AA:065; 1:AA:072). This verification service allows DoubleVerify's clients to make informed

⁷ After filing this action, David brazenly admitted that the reason he filed it was not because it had any alleged merit, but "to shed light that [the people at DoubleVerify] are d-----bags." (1:RA:0046-0047; RT:23:27-28:6).

choices about where to place their advertising, avoiding such online advertising pitfalls as affiliating with inappropriate content, running advertisements on websites that have malware, etc. *Id.* For instance, DoubleVerify's client reports provide information about what websites have content that the specific client may deem inappropriate, about whether the website targets the audience the company seeks to attract, whether competing products are advertised on the website, and also whether the advertisement is actually noticeable. (1:AA:064).

In the course of preparing these reports, DoubleVerify evaluated FilmOn and its websites. DoubleVerify concluded that FilmOn should be classified with the designations "Copyright Infringement: Streaming or File Sharing" and "Adult Content," and these classifications were made available to DoubleVerify's over 1,200 clients. (1:AA:64; 1:AA:072).

1. FilmOn's Copyright Infringement Classification

Before a website is given a designation that it may be associated with copyright infringing activity, DoubleVerify performs a thorough investigation of the website's content and structure, the website's compliance with the requirements for online service providers mandated by the Digital Millennium Copyright Act (DMCA), and third-party information that is available about the website. (1:AA:066). Such was the case with DoubleVerify's investigation of FilmOn.com.

DoubleVerify defines "Copyright Infringement: Steaming or File Sharing" as "[s]ites presently or historically, associated with access to or distribution of copyrighted material without appropriate controls, licensing, or permission..." (1:AA:006; 1:AA:067). In its investigation, DoubleVerify found several indicators that FilmOn's websites meet this criteria. (1:AA:005). For example, FilmOn has an incomplete DMCA notice, it has no obvious notice of copyright holder permission to display

content, and there are several indicators the sites do not comply with guidelines and best practices policies set forth by the Interactive Advertising Bureau and Mobile Marketing Association Counsel. (1:AA:005).

FilmOn also has been sued for copyright infringement multiple times, planting it firmly within the category of being associated, either presently or historically, with copyright infringement. (1:AA:006). As of the time of the preparation of DoubleVerify's report, the Southern District of New York, the District of Columbia, and the Central District of California all agreed that FilmOn is a copyright infringer. (2:RA:0196-4:RA:0326). That conclusion has since been echoed by the U.S. Supreme Court and other courts. *See* Footnote 6, *supra*.

2. FilmOn's Adult Content Classification

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